SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
COURT OF APPEALS of the STATE OF MISSISSIPPI  
Cause # 2009-CA-01332

DRUCILLA McCOOL

PLAINTIFF/ APPELLANT

VS  
COAHOMA OPPORTUNITIES INCORPORATE  
MAYO WILSON, JIMMIE SELLERS, KATHY  
MCDUGAL

DEFENDANT /APPELLEES

\*\*\*\*\*

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COAHOMA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI,  
CIRCUIT COURT CASE # 14-CI-06-0032

\*\*\*\*\*

APPELLANT'S BRIEF  
ORAL ARGUMENTS REQUESTED

\*\*\*\*\*

RUBY WHITE, MSB [REDACTED]  
P. O. BOX 767  
OXFORD, MS 38655  
TELEPHONE NO: (662)234-8731  
FACSIMILE: ( 662)236-3263

MINNIE P. HOWARD MSB#  
P.O. BOX 928  
OXFORD, MS 38655  
TELEPHONE NO: (662) 234-2918  
FACSIMILE NO: (662) 234-2965

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

The following issues are submitted for review, to wit:

1. Whether the court erred in granting summary judgment since a genuine issue of material facts existed as to existence of a written contract of employment and where there are provisions within the personnel manual which conflicts with and under the terms of the personnel manual supersede the at will provision?
2. Whether the court erred in finding that despite Appellee COI's failure to remit monies withheld from Appellant's earnings to the payee for FICA and Federal Taxes that Appellant suffered no damages, and therefore, Appellee did not convert funds of Appellant?
3. Whether the court erred in granting summary judgment since a genuine issue of material facts existed whether the exclusive remedy for negligence was the Mississippi Workmen Compensation Act?
4. Whether the court erred in ruling the claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress was barred by the one year statute of limitation or, alternatively, did not rise to the level of extreme and outrageous to support a cause of action?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **1. Nature of the Case**

This matter is before the court on appeal from the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Mississippi, the Honorable Albert Smith presiding. This appeal is taken from an order entered July 15<sup>th</sup>, 2009 granting a Summary Judgment with regards to Appellant's claims for breach of contract, conversion, infliction of emotional distress and negligence.

This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to MCA Sec. 11-15-3, and the Mississippi Supreme Court Rules of Appellate Procedure.

### **2. Course of the Proceedings**

On March 26 2006, Appellant filed an action in the Coahoma County Circuit Court alleging four (4) causes of action, to wit:

- (1) Breach of contract under Appellee COI's written policies and procedures resulting in wrongful termination, (1a) actions, omissions and conduct undertaken against Appellant that were wrongful, tortious, intentional and contrary to COI's written policies and procedures;
- (2) Conversion by wrongfully withholding or misappropriating portion of Appellant's wages, or alternatively, negligent failure to implement and enforce sound fiscal and accounting practices;
- (3) Negligence due to Appellees' failure to investigate the facts and circumstances surrounding Appellate's termination, breach of duties by not effectuating the proper procedures and/or fully investigating the situation surrounding the improper, irresponsible, and illegal accounting and35 financial practices and omissions which pervade said corporate entity; and
- (4) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress despite duty not to wrongfully and maliciously



terminate Appellant's employment and to prevent any purposeful retaliation and failure to investigate the extreme and outrageous circumstances surrounding her termination.

Appellants and Appellee filed Motions for Summary Judgment. A hearing was held on July 8, 2009.

### **3. Disposition in the Court Below**

On July 15, 2009 the court entered An Order of Summary Judgement adopting the arguments in Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgement. Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment was dismissed as moot. The Court granted Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment on all counts and dismissed the action with prejudice.

#### **1. On the breach of contract claim, the court ruled as follows:**

(a) The action was barred by the 1 year statute of limitation applicable to unwritten contracts of employment as Appellant was not named within the personnel manual; (b) The Appellant was attempting to escape the language disclaiming formation of a contract by asking the court to look outside the personnel manual to certain federal regulation; (c) If the claim was not barred by the statute of limitation, it failed because COI's personnel manual contains express language disclaiming formation of a contract and maintaining the employment at will relationship; (d) The provision in the personnel manual stating any provisions conflicting with funder's regulations would be superseded by the federal regulation did not provide a private right of action and did not prohibit an employment at-will contract; (e) Appellant was judicially estopped from making a federal claim due to her position in Federal Court objecting to jurisdiction in which she asserted she was making state claims only; (f) The clause within the Personnel Manual disclaiming creation of a contract was valid and did not create contractual obligations between Appellees and Appellant;

2. On the conversion claim, the court ruled as follows:

(a) Appellee had simply prioritized its debts and eventually paid all monies withheld for bankruptcies and insurances; (b) Monies withheld from Appellant's checks for FICA and Taxes but not remitted were too speculative and as a result Appellant suffered no damages;

3. On the negligence claim, the court ruled that the claim was related solely to Appellant's employment and therefore was barred by the exclusive remedy provision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Law, Miss. Code Ann 71-3-9 (Rev 1989);.

4. On the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim the court ruled as follows:

(a) The action was barred by the 1 year statute of limitation as Appellant was terminated on July 28, 2004 but did not file the action until March 23, 2006; (b) or, in the alternative, the conduct alleged does not rise to the level of "extreme and outrageous" required to state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress.

Being aggrieved by the decision , the Appellant filed this appeal.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellee Coahoma Opportunities Incorporated (hereinafter COI) is a 501(c)(3) corporation headquartered in Clarksdale, Mississippi. ( TR-366 ). COI operates a number of programs including a Head Start Program in Coahoma County, Mississippi. (TR 52-53). Approximately 158 employees worked for COI during the relevant time in this case. COI is funded primarily through grants from Federal and State sources. (TR 53). It is governed by a Board of Directors.

At all times relevant Appellee Johnny McGlowan was the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The day to day operation of COI is the responsibility of the Executive Director. Appellee Mayo Wilson became Executive Director of COI in January 2004 and remained in that

position at all times relevant. Appellee Jimmie Sellers was employed as the Human Resources Director for COI at all times relevant.

COI's Head Start Program is funded primarily through federal funds from the Department of Health and Human Services (hereinafter HHS).(TR 53). COI's Head Start Program decision making or governing body is the Policy Council. (TR 326). In January 2004 Appellee Kathy McDougal was employed by COI as the Head Start Program Director and charged with the day to day operation of the Head Start Program. Appellant Drucilla McCool was employed with the Head Start Program operated by COI and at all times relevant worked as a teacher.

Under HHS Regulations at 45 CFR 1301.31 (a), grantees receiving funds from HHS to operate a head start program, such as COI, must establish and implement written personnel policies for staff that are approved by the policy council and made available to all staff. (TR 331). The directive further provides that at a minimum such policies must include description of staff position, description for procedure for recruitment, selection and termination of staff, standards of conduct and a description of employee-management relations procedures for managing employee grievances and adverse actions.

HHS' directive at 45 C.F.R. 1304.50 (a)(1)(i) requires establishment of a Policy Council by head start grantees funded by it. HHS directive at 45 C. F. R. 1304.50 (d)(1)(xi) provides the policy council must work in partnership with key management to review, approve and/or disapprove decisions to hire or terminate any person who works primarily for the Early Head Start or Head Start program. (TR 276-277). Section 1304.50 Appendix A in defining "must approve or disapprove" states that when the directive states the policy council must approve or disapprove, it means the group must be involved in the decision making process prior to seeking

approval. If it does not approve, a proposal cannot be adopted or the proposed action taken, until agreement is reached between the disagreeing groups. (TR 280). According to Appellee Wilson the Policy Council approves and disapproves all hiring and firings and approves all things that pertain to the Head Start. (TR 326). The Policy Council is the governing body of COI's Head Start Program. (TR 326).

In compliance with HHS directives at 45 C.F. R. 1304.50, as reflected in its ByLaws, COI established a Policy Council. The Policy Council is defined by COI as its decision making body. (TR 192). In compliance with 45 C.F.R. 1301.31 requirement that grantees establish and implement written personnel policies, COI Board of Directors and Policy Council approved and adopted a 180 page Personnel Manual (hereinafter The Manual). Considerable training efforts are spent on the manual. All employees are provided a copy of the manual. (TR 328). Upon leaving employment of the agency all employees are required to return the Manual or pay an assessment of \$20.00. (TR 60). A copy of the manual is provided at each of COI's work sites. A policy committee is established consisting of Board members, administrative staff and other staff to review the manual yearly.

The Manual covers staffing, non-discrimination and affirmative action, employee performance, management, personnel administration, standards of conduct and grievance procedures. In regards to termination, the manual provides all full time employee voluntarily terminating their employment should give at least two-week advance notice in writing to their program director through their immediate supervisor. All employees whose employment is involuntarily terminated for causes beyond their control, such as reorganization, unscheduled or anticipated termination of a program shall receive a two-week notice whenever feasible.

The Manual provides in the event an employee proves unsatisfactory according to established procedures and/or performance, the supervisor will present to the Project Director proof of cause for a recommendation of termination. The Project Director will recommend to the Executive Director when a decision to terminate is made, and the decision is forwarded to the Board (except for Head Start staff, the decision is forwarded to the Policy Council) for approval. (TR 82). The Head Start Program Director is not authorized to terminate Head Start Program employees.

The manual provides the within named policies and procedures do not constitute a contract of employment nor should any part be construed to grant to an employee the expectation of employment for a definite period of time, or any employment other than strict at will employment. (TR 61). The manual further provides the policies contained herein shall in no way supersede or conflict with directives of funding agencies. Should a conflict occur in the future, directives of the funding agencies will take precedence. (TR 68).

The Manual states if the Executive Director or the Board/Policy Council (as appropriate) decides to take any adverse actions( fire, suspend or terminate) against any employee for any reasons, the following due process procedures safeguards will be followed:

1. Provide an explanation of the established procedure for removal of employees;
2. Give reasons for the action;
3. Inform the individual of his right to a hearing and to be represented by counsel at all stages of the proceedings at his expense;
4. Inform the individual of his rights to present witnesses on his behalf and to cross examine witnesses presented in support of the board or policy council; and
5. The right to receive and examine copy of any documents which will be relied upon by the

Board or policy council to support the adverse action. (TR 71). The Head Start Program Director is not granted authority to take adverse action in the nature of firing, suspending or terminating Head Start Program employees.

The Manual provides in the event an employee proves unsatisfactory according to established procedures and/or performance, the supervisor will present to the Project Director proof of cause for a recommendation of termination. The Project Director will recommend to the Executive Director when a decision to terminate is made, and the decision will be forwarded to the Board (except for Head Start staff, the decision is forwarded to the Policy Council) for approval. (TR 82). The Head Start Program Director is not authorized to terminate Head Start Program employees.

The Manual provides that the Personnel Action Form will be used to tract all personnel action from hiring to termination. (TR 82). On September 5, 2003, Appellant signed a Personnel Action Form reflecting a change in position from lead teacher to teacher at the Aaron Henry Center at an annual salary of \$20,080.09 to be paid bi-weekly at \$1085.41. The change was effective August 28, 2003 but retroactive to January 1, 2003. The content is agreed to by Appellant and approved by Appellees McDougal and the Former Executive Director of COI Dorothy Banks. (TR 337). There is no personnel action form reflecting Appellant's termination.

At the July 21, 2003 board meeting COI was aware of its financial status. A lack of internal controls were noted. Failure to perform timely reconciliation of bank statements, untimely audits and trial balances being out of balance were noted as early as 1999. The July 21, 2003 minutes noted a need for COI to strengthen controls and stop spending. These problems were found to have existed for four and one-half years prior to the July 2003 meeting. (TR 522).

In the summer of 2003 COI's former Executive Director Dorothy Banks determined COI did not have sufficient funds to operate to the end of the 2003 school year. In response Banks devised a scheme to keep COI operating. Under Banks' scheme, the 158 employees would work through the end of the year. Employees would receive their regular pay stubs reflecting their correct earnings with deductions for items such as child support, garnishments, bankruptcies, insurance, FICA, and taxes. The employees were able to cash the net sum reflected on their check stubs. However, the sums reflected as withheld were not remitted to the payees. (TR 334-336). Appellant was not informed of this scheme.

Appellant was paid bi-weekly. During this time period Appellant's gross wages were \$1085.41 bi-weekly. Withholdings consisting of \$80.31 in federal taxes, \$83.03 in FICA, \$ 44.00 state taxes, \$29.60 for American Family, \$14.36 American Fidelity, \$21.78 for Freedom Life, \$22.86 Gulf Guaranty and \$304.50 for garnishment for Chapter 13 bankruptcy were taken out bi-weekly. Appellant's net pay was \$391.38 per pay period. (TR 19).

In January and February 2004 some employees, including Appellant, learned the sums withheld from their checks in September, October, November and December 2003 were not being remitted to the payees. Appellant ascertained money withheld for her Chapter 13 Bankruptcy were not being sent to the Chapter 13 Trustee.( TR 24, 25). Appellant contacted Appellee COI through Fiscal Officer Simpson and Human Resource Office Appellee Sellers. Sellers advised Appellant she thought she would work with them and the money had gone to pay agency bills. Sellers testified the money was used to pay allowable agency expenses. Being dissatisfied with their answer, Appellant contacted COI Board of Directors members Anderson and McGlowan. (TR 507). Appellant's bankruptcy payments were then \$2300.00 in arrears.

Appellee McGlowan advised Appellant that the former Executive Director Dorothy Banks knew in the summer of 2003 that COI did not have enough money to operate through the end of the year and that Banks had devised a plan in the summer of 2003 to use sums deducted from all employees paychecks to continue operating the agency. (TR 334-336). The plan continued in place in 2004. (TR 445).

HHS conducted an onsite review of COI between November 24-26 2003 and found 16 separate findings under Accounting and Budget Practices. HHS informed COI it did not have proper internal controls in place to ensure federal assets could be safeguarded. (TR 518). At the December 18, 2003 Board of Directors meeting the Executive Director noted the financial predicament stemmed from circumventing the process, co-mingling funds and lack of control by the Project Directors on expenditures related to the respective projects. (TR 518). COI reported in February 2004 that unpaid bills for 2003 included deductions made from staff checks for bankruptcy, child support, state taxes, returned checks, loan payments and insurance payments as well as state taxes and unemployment taxes. (TR 520).

At the April 19, 2004 Board meeting the Account Manager reported the system and payroll did not equal . On May 24, 2004 the Head Start Director stated the figures in the budget report basically coincided with the Account Managers amounts and that a "surplus was floating around in certain areas". When a board member questioned the areas with large amounts of unexpended monies the Head Start Director stated this would be taken care of. (TR 519-520).

Because COI had not timely remitted the payments to the Bankruptcy Trustee, a motion to dismiss Appellant's bankruptcy case was filed. Appellant was paying her house payment through the bankruptcy. In February 2004 the bankruptcy was \$1409.07 in arrears. (TR 24). In



March 2004 the payments were \$2242.15 in arrears. (TR 25). On April 5, 2004 Appellee COI submitted 4 months of payments to the Chapter 13 Trustee to prevent dismissal of the case. (TR 18). As of May 2, 2004 Appellant's insurance policy to Freedom Life had only been paid through August 10, 2003. (TR 38). As of July 2008 FICA and Taxes for 2003 were still owed by COI for its employees. Appellee Wilson estimated approximately \$300,000.00 in back taxes, FICA and penalties were owed for years 2001, 2002, and 2003. (TR 365-366).

At the end of the 2003/2004 school year Appellant received evaluations for the 2003/2004 school year dated and signed by Appellee McDougal. The evaluation rated Appellant superior in all categories.

On July 28 2004 Appellee McDougal sent a 2 sentence letter to Appellant stating "in review of your continuous display of actions, which jeopardized funding for the agency, your services are no longer needed in Coahoma Opportunities, Inc., head start program. The appeal flow chart is attached if you wish to appeal". (TR 16). The appeal flow chart was taken from the Manual.(TR183.) The letter was sent under the signature of the Head Start Program Director Appellee Kathy McDougal. Appellee Wilson's signature was affixed immediately below that of McDougal.(TR16). Prior to the letter of July 28, 2004 Appellant had no indication COI was dissatisfied with her or her work.

According to Wilson, the letter of July 28, 2004 was to inform Appellant she would not have a job the following year. However, he stated it was not a termination letter. Wilson as well as McDougal and Sellers, all stated McDougal did not have the power to terminate McCool. (TR 328, TR 331). Under the Manual the Executive Director of COI could terminate Head Start employees with approval of the Policy Council. The Head Start Program Director was not given

authority to terminate. The matter had not been submitted to nor approved by the Policy Council. No letter was sent by Executive Director Wilson nor by the Policy Council to Appellant. COI's Policy Council did not authorize McDougal to send the letter of July 28, 2004. McDougal knew she did not have the authority to terminate Appellant or other Head Start workers. According to Wilson the letter of July 28, 2004 was not a termination letter. In a termination letter it is a final determination. In this it provides for a review and establishment of defense or cause. It is my feeling that a termination letter is final. A termination letter is final after all review have been exhausted including a complete hearing above the board. The letter is not the final act of termination. (TR 333).

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