IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01332

DRUSILLA MCCOOL

V.

COAHOMA OPPORTUNITIES, INC.; KATHY McDOUGAL, HEADSTART DIRECTOR; JOHNNY McGLOWN, BOARD CHAIR; MAYO WILSON, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR; and JIMMIE ANN SELLERS, PERSONNEL DIRECTOR

APPELLEES

APPELLANT

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COAHOMA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI THE HONORABLE ALBERT B. SMITH, III, PRESIDING

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

Paula Graves Ardelean (MP# Alison Tasma Vance (MB BUTLER, SNOW, O'MARA, STEVENS & CANNADA, PLLC 1020 Highland Colony Parkway Suite 1400 Ridgeland, MS 39157 Post Office Box 6010 Ridgeland, MS 39158-6010 Telephone: (601) 948-5711 Facsimile: (601) 985-4500

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a case in which a former at-will employee asks this Court to significantly expand a very limited exception to Mississippi's firmly-embedded employment-at-will rule and to overrule a long line of precedent in the process. Ms. McCool contends that COI's Personnel Manual vests her with certain contractual rights regarding the procedure for terminating her employment and that COI's purported breach of that contract results in a wrongful discharge claim.

Ms. McCool does not dispute that COI's Manual and the Verification Of Receipt of that Manual both contain unambiguous disclaimers preventing formation of a contract and preserving the at-will nature of her employment. Nor does Ms. McCool dispute that a long line of precedent from this Court holds such a disclaimer absolutely bars a breach of contract claim. Rather, she asks the Court to simply ignore those two unambiguous disclaimers and analyze her claim as though they did not exist. According to Ms. McCool, the Code of Federal Regulations implementing the Head Start Act requires COI to establish certain personnel policies and procedures. Ms. McCool argues that COI should be contractually bound to follow those policies and procedures, despite the express language in its Manual that says otherwise.

The Federal Regulations upon which Ms. McCool relies do not provide for a private right of action. Thus, Ms. McCool is attempting to do indirectly what she cannot do directly. In essence, Ms. McCool asks the Court to disregard its long line of precedent so she can back-door

an unrecognized federal claim through a state law contract action. The trial court correctly rejected this attempt to make an end-run around Mississippi's employment-at-will rule.

To begin with, Ms. McCool's breach of contract claim is barred by the statute of limitations. The Manual she contends vests her with certain contractual rights does not name Ms. McCool personally; rather, parole evidence is necessary to show the existence of the purported contractual relationship. Accordingly, the one year statute of limitations applicable to an unwritten contract of employment bars her claim, which was filed nearly two years after the termination of her employment.

Moreover, Ms. McCool is judicially estopped from asking the Court to construe her breach of contract claim by referencing the Code of Federal Regulations. In a motion to remand this case to state court, Ms. McCool expressly represented to the federal district court that she did not intend to rely on federal law to prove her claims. The federal district court remanded the case. Ms. McCool cannot change her position now.

Finally, there is no valid reason to reject well-developed case law upholding disclaimers in handbooks. In fact, the Federal Regulations and the disclaimer in COI's Manual do not conflict. The Federal Regulations do not grant Head Start employees any contractual rights and do not require agencies such as COI to do so. The Federal Regulations do not prohibit disclaimers in Personnel Manuals preventing formation of a contract and do not prohibit agencies such as COI from maintaining the at-will status of its employees.

Ms. McCool also asserts a conversion claim based on COI's late remittance of certain bankruptcy garnishments and insurance premiums on Ms. McCool's behalf. Ms. McCool's conversion claim is nothing more than a contractual claim for unpaid wages (which were all eventually paid). Courts routinely reject such claims and hold that an action for unpaid wages does not sound in conversion. The trial court correctly held that Ms. McCool failed to make out the elements of a conversion claim. As Ms. McCool admits, COI simply did not have enough money to meet all of its obligations; it prioritized and paid its bills as it could. Ms. McCool does not contend that COI or the Individual Defendants used the funds it had available for some improper purpose. There is not a scintilla of evidence to show that COI or the Individual Defendants did some wrongful, tortious act with the intent to appropriate the funds for itself or themselves. It is also undisputed that all of the bankruptcy and insurance premiums were ultimately remitted to the proper payees and that Ms. McCool was not damaged as a result of the late payments.

The trial court correctly held that Ms. McCool's negligence claim arising from her employment is barred by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act's exclusivity provisions. Ms. McCool also asserts an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim arising from the termination of her employment. The trial court correctly held that the claim was barred by the statute of limitations and, even if it was not barred, her allegations are insufficient to show extreme and outrageous conduct as required to establish an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

"This Court employs a de novo standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it" Buchanan v. Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc., 852 So. 2d 25, 26 (Miss. 2003). "Summary judgment in Mississippi is governed by Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, which clearly and unambiguously provides that summary judgment 'shall be rendered forthwith . . . [if] there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to judgment as a

matter of law." Glover ex rel. Glover v. Jackson State Univ., 968 So. 2d 1267, 1274 (Miss. 2007) (emphasis in original).

II. MS. MCCOOL'S CLAIM FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT UNDER COI'S WRITTEN POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FAILS AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Ms. McCool contends that COI's Policy and Procedures Manual vests her with certain contractual rights. According to Ms. McCool, COI's purported failure to follow certain policies and procedures contained in that Manual when terminating her employment gives rise to a claim for breach of contract resulting in wrongful discharge.

A. Ms. McCool's Breach Of Contract Claim Is Barred By The Statute Of Limitations.

Ms. McCool's breach of contract claim is barred by the statute of limitations. Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-29 provides that "an action based on an unwritten contract of employment shall be commenced within one (1) year next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after." The trial court correctly held that the purported contract upon which Ms. McCool relies to establish her claim is unwritten as far as she is concerned and, accordingly, her claim is barred by the one year statute of limitations. 4 R. 537; R.E. 6.

In Sloan v. Taylor Machinery Co., 501 So. 2d 409 (Miss. 1987), a former employee claimed that an employment manual constituted a written contract of employment. The Court explained that "[w]here a person is not named in the written contract and parol evidence is necessary to show the existence of the contractual relationship, the contract is unwritten insofar as that person is concerned and the limitations statute relating to written contracts is not applicable." *Sloan*, 501 So. 2d at 410. Because the plaintiff was not named in the employment manual upon which he relied to establish his claim, the Court held that the contract claim was barred by the one-year statute of limitations set out in Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-29. *Id.*

Here, it is undisputed that Ms. McCool is not named in the Manual that she contends vested her with certain contractual rights. Rather, parole evidence is necessary to show the existence of the alleged contractual relationship. Accordingly, the one year statute of limitations applies. Ms. McCool's employment was terminated on July 28, 2004; she filed this lawsuit on March 23, 2006, nearly two years later. Her claim is barred.

Ms. McCool now contends that she signed a "Personnel Action Form" sufficient to meet the definition of a written contract. (Appellee's Brief at 18). Ms. McCool did not advance this issue in the trial court and, as such, she is procedurally barred from advancing it on appeal. It is well settled that "[q]uestions will not be decided on appeal that were not presented to the trial court." *Jones v. State*, 915 So. 2d 511, 513 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

In any event, her argument glosses over the fact that she does not rely on the "Personnel Action Form" as the contract she alleges was breached. The cases cited by Ms. McCool in support of her argument are distinguishable on this point. That is, the documents that the court found sufficient to establish a written contract were the very contracts the plaintiff alleged were breached. *See, e.g., Robinson v. Coastal Family Health Ctr., Inc.*, 756 F. Supp. 958, 962 (S.D. Miss. 1990) (holding that the one-year statute of limitations applicable to unwritten contract of employment did not apply because the plaintiff "bases his [breach of contract] claim against Coastal upon the *written* Employment Agreement he executed with Coastal") (emphasis in original).

Here, Ms. McCool does not contend that COI breached the "Personnel Action Form." Rather, she advances the Manual to support her breach of contract claim. It is undisputed that she is not named in that Manual.

B. COI's Manual Contains An Unambiguous Disclaimer Preventing Formation Of A Contract.

Ms. McCool's breach of contract claim fails for an additional reason – the Manual upon which she bases that claim contains an unambiguous disclaimer preventing formation of a contract. As a matter of well-established law, this disclaimer prevents formation of a contract and requires dismissal of Ms. McCool's breach of contract claim.

It is undisputed that on the first page of COI's Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual, in bold print, is the following disclaimer:

"The within-contained policies and procedures do not constitute a contract of employment, nor should any portion hereof be construed to grant to an employee the expectation of employment for a definite period of time, or any employment other than strict "at will" employment."

1 R. 61; R.E. 12.

Moreover, it is undisputed that the Verification of Receipt of Personnel Policies and Procedures Manual expressly states: "this manual is not an employment contract, either for initial or continued employment, nor does this manual create any express or implied contractual obligations," and "I understand that no statement contained in this Manual creates any guarantee of continued employment." 1 R. 59.

Ms. McCool cites *Bobbitt v. Orchard, Ltd.*, 603 So. 2d 356 (Miss. 1992), for the proposition that "when an employer publishes and disseminates to its employees a manual setting forth the proceedings which will be followed in event of an employee's infraction of rules, <u>and there is nothing in an employment contract to the contrary</u>, then the employer will be required to follow its own manual in disciplining or discharging employees for infractions or misconduct specifically covered by the manual." *Id.* at 357 (emphasis added). Ms. McCool admits, however, *that there is language "to the contrary" in COI's Manual.*

Courts interpreting *Bobbitt* have consistently held that when an employee handbook or manual includes language stating that it does not constitute a contract, there can be no valid contract claim. For example, in *Lee v. Golden Triangle Planning & Development District, Inc.*, 797 So. 2d 845, 848 (Miss. 2001), the Court held that the *Bobbitt* exception to employment-atwill is strictly limited and when "there is 'something' in the employee handbook disclaiming a contract of employment," the exception does not apply.

Ms. McCool acknowledges that COI's Manual contains an express statement disclaiming a contract of employment. Ms. McCool also acknowledges the long line of cases that hold the disclaimer absolutely bars her breach of contract claim. She argues, however, that the Court should simply disregard that disclaimer.

Ms. McCool asks this Court to disregard the state's firmly-embedded employment-at-will rule and to significantly expand the limited exception developed in *Bobbitt*. "As correctly noted recently by the Court of Appeals, '[t]he supreme court was reaffirming in *Bobbitt* the proposition that <u>disclaimers in employees' manuals having their purpose of preserving the employment at-</u>will relationship cannot be ignored."" *Lee v. Golden Triangle Planning & Dev. Dist., Inc.,* 797 So. 2d 845, 848 (Miss. 2001) (emphasis added) (citing *McCrory v. Wal Mart Stores, Inc.,* 755 So. 2d 1141, 1144-45 (Miss. Ct. App.1999)).

This case does not present a compelling reason for the Court to discount the substantial precedent that exists in this State regarding employment-at-will or to significantly expand the limited exception created in *Bobbitt*. Put simply, this case does not present a compelling reason for the Court to reverse its well established position that "<u>disclaimers in employees' manuals</u> having their purpose of preserving the employment at-will relationship cannot be ignored." *Lee*, 797 So. 2d at 848 (emphasis added).

Ms. McCool argues that the Court should ignore the express disclaimer contained in COI's Manual because of the Code of Federal Regulations ("Federal Regulations") governing Head Start programs.¹ According to Ms. McCool, those Federal Regulations require that COI establish certain policies and procedures for termination of employment and, in light of that requirement, COI should not be able to disclaim formation of a contract.

1. Ms. McCool Is Judicially Estopped From Relying On Federal Regulations To Support Her Breach Of Contract Claim.

The trial court correctly held that Ms. McCool's attempt to rely on Federal Regulations to establish her breach of contract claim is barred by the doctrine of judicial estoppel. Ms. McCool did not address the issue of judicial estoppel in her appellate brief. "It is settled precedent that issues on which a party fails to expend any discussion or citation of authority are not reviewed by this Court." *AmSouth Bank v. Gupta*, 838 So. 2d 205, 210 (Miss. 2002). The trial court's dismissal of Ms. McCool's breach of contract claim may be affirmed based solely on its holding that Ms. McCool's attempt to rely on Federal Regulations to establish that claim is barred by the doctrine of judicial estoppel.

In response to the Defendants' removal of this case to federal court, Ms. McCool filed a motion to remand. In that motion to remand, Ms. McCool stated: "The Plaintiff's claims against the Defendants are grounded solely in Mississippi common law or negligence, breach of contract, contract, conversion, as well as intentional tort claims." 3 R. 382. Ms. McCool went on to state: "Because Plaintiff has <u>expressly waived</u> any claim based on federal constitutional, statutory or common law grounds, and because no diversity jurisdiction exists, there is no federal

¹ COI operates a Head Start program in Coahoma County through a grant from the United States Department of Health and Human Services authorized by the Head Start Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9801 *et seq.* The Department of Health and Human Services promulgates certain regulations and performance standards that are published in the Code of Federal Regulations, 45 C.F.R. §§1303-1311. It is those Regulations on which Ms. McCool attempts to rely to support her breach of contract claim.

jurisdiction." 3 R. 383 (emphasis in original). The federal district court relied on McCool's representation and remanded the case to state court. 3 R. 388-91.

Now, in direct contradiction to her express waiver of any federal claim, Ms. McCool argues that this case is controlled by Federal Regulations. That argument is barred by the doctrine of judicial estoppel, which "precludes a party from asserting a position, benefiting from that position, and then, when it becomes more convenient or profitable, retreating from that position later in the litigation." *In re Estate of Richardson*, 903 So. 2d 51, 56 (Miss. 2005).

Rankin v. American General Finance, Inc., 912 So. 2d 725 (Miss. 2005), is instructive. In Rankin, the plaintiffs represented to the federal district court in a motion to remand that they had no intention of relying on federal law to prosecute their claims. Rankin, 912 So. 2d at 729. The district court relied on that assertion and remanded the case to state court. Id. As a result, the Court held that the plaintiffs were judicially estopped from asking the state court to construe the state usury statute in accordance with federal Truth in Lending Act. Id.

Here, Ms. McCool represented to the federal district court that she had no intention of relying on federal law. As a result, she is judicially estopped from asking the Court to construe her breach of contract claim in accordance with the Federal Regulations implementing the Head Start Act.

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